
 

1 
 

Infrastructure Sales Tax Citizens Oversight Committee 
Meeting Minutes  

April 04, 2024 
 
Opening 
 

The meeting was brought to order at 5:30 pm by Sheila McLean, Chief Financial Officer.  
 
Board Attendees 

 

Committee Members in attendance: 

Andre-Rousseau Pegues – In Person 

Leland Taylor – In Person  

George Nicolopoulos – In Person  

Richard Hagenbach – In Person 

Jack May – In Person  

 

Committee Members in attendance virtually:  

N/A 
 

Committee Members not in attendance: 

Allen Morrell 
 

Manatee County representatives: 

Sheila McLean, Chief Financial Officer – In Person 

Evan Pilachowski, Deputy County Administrator – In Person  

Victor Ortiz, Deputy Director, Financial Management – In Person 

Candi Cruz, Budget Division Manager - CIP, Financial Management – In Person 

Jessica Pollard – Senior Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management - In Person 

 

Citizens from the public present: 

None  

 

Introduction 

 

Sheila McLean introduced herself as the Chief Financial Officer for the County, that she has 
been with the County for over twenty-five (25) years and in Financial Management for almost 9 
years. Mr. Hagenbach introduced himself, that he lives in Lakewood Ranch, retired from 
General Motors fifteen (15) years ago and that he signed up to do this to keep up active in the 
community. Mr. Nicolopoulos introduced himself, he’s in commercial banking and that he is 



 

2 
 

here trying to get things done. Mr. Taylor introduced himself, he’s an attorney, born and raised 
in Manatee County and he wants to give back to our County. Mr. May introduced himself, he is 
also retired, and he is a native Floridian as well. Mr. Pegues introduced himself, semi-retired, 
and wanting to give back to Manatee County. Candi Cruz introduced herself as the Budget 
Division Manager for the Capital Improvement Plan, that she has been with the County twenty 
(20) years next week and in Financial Management for thirteen (13) years. Jessica Pollard 
introduced herself, that she has been with the County one (1) year and loves working with the 
County. Evan Pilachowski introduced himself as one of the Deputy County Administrators for 
the County, that he oversees Public Works, Utilities and Financial Management and thanks the 
members for their time. Victor Ortiz introduces himself as the Deputy Director of Financial 
Management, that he has been with the County two (2) years, and thanks the members for 
their service to the County. All parties were welcomed and congratulated by the Infrastructure 
Sales Tax Citizens Oversight Committee (ISTCOC) members.   

 

Reappointments 

Sheila McLean proceeds to inform the committee that they must vote for a new Chairperson 
and Vice Chairperson for the committee. Mr. Nicolopoulos asked who has been on the 
committee longest. Mr. Morrell was identified as the longest standing member currently. Mr. 
Nicolopoulos said he would nominate either Mr. Taylor or Mr. May as Chairperson. However, 
Mr. May nominated Mr. Morrell for Chairperson and Mr. Taylor seconded the nomination for 
Mr. Morrell. All were in favor, passes unanimously. Mr. Hagenbach nominated Mr. Taylor as 
Vice Chairperson and Mr. May seconded the nomination. All were in favor, passes 
unanimously. 

 

Approval of Minutes 
 

Leland Taylor, Vice Chairperson, asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the 
November 9, 2023, meeting. Jack May made the motion to approve the meeting minutes 
which was then seconded by Richard Hagenbach. Unanimous by all – passes.   

 

 

Presentation of Audited Annual Report, Changes and Current FY2024 Information 

 

Sheila McLean presented the committee with the changes from the Unaudited and Audited 
report from November. Ms. McLean explains that part of the unaudited report there were 44 
project changes that were approved by the board totaling $63,362,105. Project and 
equipment expenditures totaled $31,274,124. Debt service costs (including imputed interest) 
totaled $4,537,077 for same, utilizing infrastructure sales tax revenues for the previous year. 
Sheila McLean went on to explain the noted change from the unaudited report to the audited 
report: (Project and equipment expenditures changed from $31,274,124 to $38,289,576 for a 
difference of $7,015,452; and Debt service costs (including imputed interest) totaled 
$4,537,077 to $4,618,625 for a difference of $81,548 as identified in the attached report). Mr. 
Hagenbach asked what drives the change in the project and equipment expenditures? Sheila 
McLean explained there were invoices for projects in the process of year end that had not 



 

3 
 

been posted yet at the time of November’s meeting which added to the expenditure side. Mr. 
Nicolopoulos stated that it sounded like it’s been driven by audit adjustments to shore up 
accrual-based accounts. Ms. McLean explained that she would be walking through step by 
step what all terms mean to introduce the new members to the Infrastructure Sales Tax.  

 
Sheila McLean commenced with a PowerPoint presentation for the Citizens Oversight 
Committee. Starting with the goals of the Citizens Oversight Committee. Ms. McLean 
explained that the tax was voted on by voters in November of 2016. The Infrastructure Sales 
Tax is regulated by Ordinance 16-030 and Resolution 18-130 Amended and Restated R-16-
128. She also stated that when we went for the referendum, we established an original project 
list. Over the years the list has morphed however if a new project needs to be added or 
removed, a change in scope or rationale all has the be brought to the Board of County 
Commissioners for a public hearing for approval. Sheila McLean went on to explain Ordinance 
16-030 in depth, from the establishment of the tax, the length the tax, the creation of the 
Citizen’s Oversight Committee and the compliance with the Sunshine Law Chapter 286 of the 
Florida Statues, Florida Public Law Chapter 119 of the Florida Statues and Florida Public 
Ethics Code Chapter 112 of the Florida Statues. Ms. Mclean moved on to explain Resolution 
18-130 Amended and Restated R-16-128, which further establishes the definition of the 
Committee, defines expenditures of the tax, that sales tax proceeds will be spent in agreement 
with the Resolution, provides a master list of projects, and an annual report to the Board of 
County Commissioners by December 31st of every year. Next, McLean went over the 
establishment of the committee, how it is composed of 7 members for 2-year terms, members 
must reside in unincorporated Manatee County, meet a minimum of once annually and with a 
majority vote, elect a Chairperson and Vice Chairperson. After that Sheila McLean went on to 
explain the role of the committee and how the committee must confirm- subcategories, 
percentages, any changes, and expenditures. Mr. Hagenbach asked how does a project get 
created and who creates it? Ms. McLean explained that a project is removed or added to the 
project and equipment list through public hearings and budget amendments. Mr. Hagenbach 
asked who works up the costs of the projects? Sheila explained that each department creates 
each project from whatever is driving a project to be created whether it is growth or deficiency. 
Mr. Hagenbach asked is the role here not to question the numbers, do we just accept the 
numbers? Sheila explained, please, question the numbers. Mr. Hagenbach then asked does 
Financial Management just accept the figures given by the departments? McLean explained 
that Financial Management vets each project that comes through our office. Candi Cruz 
explained the project and equipment list in detail, how projects are added and removed by 
budget amendments or the Capital Improvement Plan process. Mr. Nicolopoulos asked is 
there a running list of projects that have been funded by this tax? Candi explained that yes 
and it is included in the packet. Sheila McLean explained that the project and equipment list is 
essential to understanding the Infrastructure Sales Tax. Jack May explained that when he first 
started on the committee that it felt like it was more information than he could absorb however 
the Financial Management department makes it easy to understand. Sheila said that the FY23 
Actuals were $42,265,825. Mr. Nicolopoulos how does that compare to what was originally 
budgeted? Candi Cruz explained that we budgeted $29,728,766. Evan Pilachowski explained 
this is a revenue stream that we do not want built up reserves on, the whole purpose of the 
tax is to get it in and spend it on the needs of the County. Mr. Hagenbach asked is there 
anyone who ranks the projects by priority, are we locked into these percentages? Ms. McLean 



 

4 
 

explained that we are locked into these percentages and would have to return to the Board of 
County Commissioners for approval to change the percentages. Mr. Nicolopoulos states he 
has read some of the last meeting minutes and the percentage allocation has come up several 
times and it makes sense to him to get the percentages changed. Sheila explained that we 
are currently working on a proposal to have the percentages of 911 & Public Safety 
Technology Upgrades removed and Stormwater added, as the Clerk’s office gives us the most 
push back on this sub-category and Stormwater has more need for the funds. Mr. Nicolopoulos 
asked is this tax assessed across the County? Sheila McLean answered with a yes. Leland 
Taylor explained that unlike other taxes collected around the County and then distributed 
throughout the state for various things, all this Infrastructure Sales Tax returns to Manatee 
County for Manatee County needs only. After this exchange, Ms. Mclean went into what the 
role of Financial Management Department is by preparing reports, provide all backup 
documentation for verification of appropriate approval, provide information requested by the 
Committee. 
 
During the presentation of the Summary of Changes to Category Percentages as of February 
29, 2024, McLean explained that no percentages have changed. Mr. Nicolopoulos asked when 
our fiscal year starts and ends. Ms. McLean explained that the County’s fiscal year starts 
October 1st of every year and ends on September 30th of every year. During the Summary of 
Funds Received and Expended, Andre-Rousseau Pegues asked why would there be more 
revenue during the summer and holiday seasons? Sheila McLean explained that as we are a 
tourist destination, how much we bring in on this tax depends on the influx of people in and 
out of the county not just the residents of Manatee County. Mr. Hagenbach asked if there was 
money spoken for in the IST for projects in the future and do we have commitments going far 
into the future? McLean explained that yes there was, and we do. While Sheila McLean was 
going over the debt service, Mr. Hagenbach asked why would we need to bond? Ms. McLean 
explained that we refunded the line of credit with the bond issuance. Mr. Pegues asked if there 
was any outstanding debt service for that right now? Sheila explained that the bond issuance 
was only for the $40 million and it was pledged only for the life of the revenue itself. Candi 
Cruz went on to explain that at the beginning of this tax we did interfund loans due to 
Transportation getting the bulk of the money. However, those projects take longer to get 
started, so we established interfund loans to Public Safety and Parks with interest repayments 
until Transportation needed the money back. Mr. Nicolopoulos asked what kind of interest is 
the County getting paid on the reserves? Sheila McLean explained our average portfolio yield 
right now on interest is earning around 4.007% and that is the weighted portfolio yield. Mr. 
Pegues asked what is our policy on investing? Ms. McLean explained that as we are a 
municipality, we cannot invest on anything over five years, we cannot take risk on government 
dollars. However, we have six or seven investment pools that we invest in and each one gives 
us between 4.77% to 5.97%. Sheila McLean moved forward explaining the Summary of IST 
Changes and that it includes all the projects that were brought to the Board of County 
Commissioners. She went on to explain that this is all the changes to the project and 
equipment list since the last Citizens Oversight Committee meeting on November 9, 2023. Mr. 
Nicolopoulos asked the total projects removed were because they were completed, change in 
the budget, they came off the list or all the above? Jessica Pollard answered with all the above. 
Evan Pilachowski explained that sometimes a project is removed because we may have found 
a better revenue source for the project. Candi Cruz explained that sometimes we may be able 



 

5 
 

to use impact fees for a project and save the IST dollars. Sheila McLean went on to explain 
that when growth is identified on a project than impact fees take precedence as impact fees is 
even more stringent than IST. Mr. Pegues asked to Ms. McLean define growth. Sheila 
explained it means growth in the county. She used Parrish as an example of growth. After, 
Sheila moved into the Summary of Expenses Appropriations. She went through the 
breakdown of the numbers. Mr. Nocolopoulos asked if there was a policy about the reserves 
and being too high? Sheila McLean explained that no there is not, that these are all Capital 
Projects, and some do not move as fast as others. Next, Ms. McLean moved on to the 
Summary of Projects. During the Summary of Projects, it was identified that this report should 
be broken down, like the project and equipment list in white, peach, and yellow. Sheila 
continued through to the Infrastructure Sales Tax Dashboard. Mr. Nicolopoulos asked if the 
County could use money on roads that are managed by FDOT? Sheila explained that no we 
could not unless it is coinciding with a County Road and only as a partnership. However, Evan 
Pilachowski explained that is when we use our connections, lobbyists, and contacts in FDOT 
to really push those priorities. To finalize the presentation, Jessica Pollard went through where 
to find the dashboard on the County website as well as the project and equipment list, 
Resolutions and where to find the Advisory Boards page. 

 

Candi Cruz addressed the next meeting date recommendation of August 15, 2024. All 
members agreed upon the date. 

 

Public Comments 

None 

 

 
Action Items for Next Meeting: 

 
• Schedule the next meeting for Citizens Oversight Committee members for 

August 15, 2024. 

 Send the FY23 IST Annual Audited Report to the Committee and the Board 

of County Commissioners. 

 
Adjournment 

 

Leland Taylor, Chairperson, asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:05pm. The 
motion was made by Jack May and a seconded by George Nicolopoulos. Unanimous by all 
– passes.  

 

 



Welcome Meeting
04/04/24

CITIZENS OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

INFRASTRUCTURE SALES TAX

ADVISORY BOARD

April 4, 2024Manatee County Board of County Commissioners



GOALS

Compliance with:
• Ordinance 16-035 – Infrastructure Sales Tax
• Resolution 18-130 – Amended & Restated R-16-128 

Establishing Guidelines for Expenditures of Proceeds of an 
Infrastructure Sales Tax

– Exhibit A – Categories and Sub-Categories with allocation 
percentages for the distribution of Sales Tax Proceeds

– Exhibit B - List of Projects by Category/Sub-Category that 
were approved for expenditure   

• Report progress to Manatee County Residents
– Transparency 

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



ESTABLISHMENT OF TAX
Ordinance 16-035 – Infrastructure Sales 
Tax

• Establishes the levy of the tax
• Determines a 15-year time frame for the tax

– Beginning January 1, 2017
– Expiring December 31, 2031

• Created Citizen’s Oversight Advisory 
Committee

• Compliance with 
– Sunshine Law Chapter 286 Florida Statutes
– Florida Public Records Law – Chapter 119 Florida 

Statutes
– Florida Public Ethics Code, Chapter 112 Florida 

Statutes

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



ESTABLISHMENT OF TAX
Resolution 18-130 – Amended and Restated 
R-16-128 

• Establishes further definition of the Committee
• Defines Expenditures of Tax – (Section 3)

– Sales Tax proceeds will be spent in agreement - Exhibit A
– Provides a master list of projects – Exhibit B

• Establishment of Committee
– Annual Report to Board of County Commissioners
– Provide report by December 31 
– Committee will comply with 

» Sunshine Law Chapter 286 Florida Statutes
» Florida Public Records Law – Chapter 119 Florida 

Statutes
» Florida Public Ethics Code, Chapter 112 

Florida Statutes
– Composition of Committee/Terms

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



ESTABLISHMENT OF COMMITTEE
Structure of Committee

• Committee is composed of 7 members
• Initial Establishment of Committee

– Four members – 3-year terms
– Three members – 2-year terms

• After Initial Establishment of Committee
– All members shall serve two-year terms

• All members must reside in unincorporated 
Manatee County

• Committee shall sunset December 31, 2032
• Meet minimum of once annually
• Committee by majority vote elect:

– Chairperson
– Vice-Chairperson

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE
Confirm the following

• Subcategories and percentages are being used 
on agreement with the IST Funding Categories 
List

• Changes to the IST Funding Categories List were 
approved by the Board of the County 
Commissioners

• Expenditures were used on the IST Project and 
Equipment List

• Changes to the IST Project and Equipment List 
were approved by the Board

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



ROLE OF FINANCIAL

MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

• Prepare all reports
• Provide all backup documentation for 

verification of appropriate approval
• Provide information requested by the Committee

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



Your team at Financial 
Management
• Sheila McLean, Chief Financial Officer
• Victor Ortiz, Deputy Director - FMD
• Candi Cruz, Budget Division Manager – CIP
• Tarynn Jenna – Budget Manager - CIP
• Jessica Pollard – Senior Budget Analyst - CIP

www.MyManatee.Org

Financial Management Department

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



REPORTS BEING PRESENTED

• Summary of Changes to the Category Percentages
• Summary of Funds Received and Expended
• Summary of Infrastructure Sales Tax Changes
• Summary of Expense Appropriations
• Summary of Projects
• Infrastructure Sales Tax Dashboard
• Project and Equipment List

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



SUMMARY OF

CHANGES TO

CATEGORY

PERCENTAGES

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 6



SUMMARY OF FUNDS RECEIVED

AND EXPENDED

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 7



SUMMARY OF IST CHANGES

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 8



SUMMARY OF IST CHANGES

CONTINUED

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 9



SUMMARY OF EXPENSES

APPROPRIATIONS

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 10



SUMMARY OF PROJECTS

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 11



INFRASTRUCTURE

SALES TAX

DASHBOARD

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 12



INFRASTRUCTURE

SALES TAX

DASHBOARD

CONTINUED

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee Report Page 13



PROJECT AND EQUIPMENT LIST

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 



NEXT Infrastructure Sales Tax Citizens Oversight 
Committee Meeting will be August 15th

QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS?

Infrastructure Sales Tax – Citizens Oversight Committee 


	Approved ISTCOC Meeting Minutes 4.4.24.pdf
	4.4.24 Meeting Notes.pdf

